IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JACQUELINE FRANKLIN, ASHLEIGH PARK, LILLY SHEPARD, STACIE ALLEN, MICHAELA DEVINE, KARINA STRELKOVA and DANIELLE LAMAR, INDIVIDUALLY, AND ON BEHALF OF A CLASS OF SIMILARLY SITUATED INDIVIDUALS,

Appellants,

VS.

RUSSELL ROAD FOOD AND BEVERAGE, LLC,

Respondents.

Case No. 74332 District Court Case Elizabeth A. Brown 709372-C Elizabeth A. Brown

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

P. Andrew Sterling (NV Bar No. 13769)
Michael J. Rusing (AZ Bar No. 6617 – Admitted Pro Hac Vice)
RUSING LOPEZ & LIZARDI, P.L.L.C.
6363 North Swan Road, Suite 151
Tucson, Arizona 85718
Telephone: (520) 792-4800

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal of a final judgment under NRAP 3A.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court because it raises as a principal issue a question both of first impression and of statewide public importance involving the scope of the Minimum Wage Amendment to the Nevada Constitution, Nev. Const. Art. XV, sec. 16 (the "MWA"). NRAP 17(a)(10-11).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- The test for independent contractor status in NRS 608.0155 states it applies only "[f]or the purposes of this chapter" (*i.e.*, Chapter 608). NRS 608.0155(1). Did the trial court err in determining NRS 608.0155 applies to MWA claims?
- 2. The MWA was enacted by Nevada voters to ensure that "more, not fewer, persons would receive minimum wage protections." *Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 87, 336 P.3d 951, 955 (2014), *reh'g denied* (Jan. 22, 2015). Can the Legislature, by ordinary enactment, ensure that fewer, not more, persons would receive minimum wage protections under the MWA?

- 3. Should the MWA's definition of employee be construed in the same manner as the identical definition in the parallel federal minimum wage law (*i.e.*, by reference to the economic realities test) and are the Dancers the Club's employees under that test?
- 4. If the test for independent contractor status in NRS 608.0155 limits the scope of MWA claims, did the trial court err in applying it?
- 5. Class action certification is particularly appropriate where, as here, a general corporate policy is the focus of the litigation and employee misclassification claims are about the most perfect question for class treatment. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to certify a class in this employee misclassification case?
- 6. When some class representatives in a putative class action meet the amountin-controversy for district court jurisdiction but others do not, must they pursue duplicate class actions in district court and justice court, or can the class action proceed in just one forum?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an employee misclassification class action. Appellants (the Dancers) worked as exotic dancers at Appellee Russell Road, Inc.'s Las Vegas strip club, Crazy Horse III, and seek a determination that Appellee ("Crazy Horse III" or "the Club") is required to treat them as employees under the Minimum Wage Amendment to the Nevada Constitution, Art. XV, sec. 16. See generally 3AC at APP 0001-0007. Crazy Horse III, as Sapphire and other clubs have done, classifies its dancers as licensees who must pay the club a "house fee" to use the club's facilities to conduct their own allegedly independent (but unlicensed) business with their "clients" (the club patrons). See generally Answer at APP 0008-0037. In this action, however, Crazy Horse III has ignored the licensor-licensee fiction and instead claims its relationship with its Dancers is that of principal and independent contractor, even though the Club has never paid its Dancers as independent contractors and continues to insist the Dancers perform no work for it. APP 0675-678; APP 1304:23-26; APP 1322:27-1323:2.

The trial court denied the Dancers' motion for class certification, renewed motion for class certification, and motion for summary judgment on employee status. APP 0270-275; APP 2502-2506; APP 2507-2522. The trial court granted the Club's motion to dismiss all plaintiffs except one for failure to meet the

jurisdictional threshold amount of \$10,000,¹ held that NRS 608.0155 applied to limit MWA claims, concluded the Dancers were independent contractors under that test as a matter of law, and therefore granted the Club's motion for summary judgment on the Dancers' claims. APP 2502-2506; APP 2507-2522.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The original complaint was filed on November 4, 2014 and the operative third amended complaint (alleging violation of the MWA and unjust enrichment) was filed on October 2, 2015. APP 0001-0007. The Club filed an answer and five related counterclaims on October 19, 2015. APP 0008-0037.

On April 12, 2017 the trial court denied the Dancers' motion for class certification without prejudice based solely on a finding that the plaintiffs are "not similarly situated to the very class they are seeking to represent." APP 0270-275. The court in this order also determined that NRS 608.0155 applied to limit MWA claims. *Id*.

On July 26, 2017, the trial court granted the Dancers' motion for summary judgment on two of the Club's counterclaims. APP 2380-2385.

On August 23, 2017, the trial court (a) granted the Club's motion to dismiss all but one plaintiff for failure to meet the jurisdictional amount-in-controversy

¹ The Legislature raised the jurisdictional amount to \$15,000, effective June 8, 2017. *See* 2017 Nev. Stat., ch. 484, § 7(1)(b), at 3023. The 2013 version of NRS 4.370 is the statute at issue in this case.

threshold; (b) granted the Club's motion to strike the Dancers' renewed motion for class certification; and (c) denied the struck motion. APP 2502-2506.

On October 3, 2017, the trial court (a) granted the Club's motion for summary judgment on all the Dancers' claims because it found the Club's dancers were independent contractors under NRS 608.0155; and (b) denied the Dancers' motion for summary judgment on employee status with prejudice. APP 2507-2522.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Facts relating to employee status under the MWA

1. Whether dancers exert control over a meaningful part of the exotic dance business

• In order to work at Crazy Horse III, Dancers first must audition "for a manager(s) on shift during the time that the potential dancer auditions. If the potential dancer's audition is successful and the Crazy Horse III club's manager agrees to enter into a contract with the potential dancer to perform at the Crazy Horse III club, one of the managers assigns a shift for the dancer to perform." APP 0603:7-14.

• The Club assigns each dancer "a twelve (or 24 hour) slot that a dancer could access the venue to provide exotic dances." APP 1308:8-13.

• The Club required its Dancers to sign in and out at the beginning and end of each work shift. APP 0565:14-17; APP 0615, APP 0662:13-15.

5

• The Club generated a list of "Entertainer Rules" regulating the Dancers' conduct and behavior. APP 0615. The Rules include:

- "Make your stages... Do not be late. Wait for your replacement before leaving the stage. You must go down to G-string on stage after first song and leave it off for every song after that."
- "NO GUM. If you chew gum and stick it under the table or on the floor you will be terminated."
- "No cell phones or pagers."
- "Large tattoos must be covered."
- "Please do not turn down a drink [offered by a customer]. ...
 Never discourage bottle sales or you will be terminated."
- "Do not walk around with a cigarette or cell phone."
- "When going into the VIP room, always check in with a Floor Host or Manager. No entertainer may enter VIP without a host escorting you."
- "Do not run tabs on dances."
- "If a guest is rude, be polite and excuse yourself, let a manager know. The manager will handle it for you."
- "Booths on the main floor all have minimums. Do not seat guests yourself."

- "Do not complain about club or employees in front of guests. Be supportive of staff at all times."
- "Noncompliance [with Floor Host instructions] may lead to suspension or termination of your contract."

• The Club posted a notice instructing dancers they had "30 minutes from check in to get ready and get on the floor." APP 0625.

• The Club generated a "pricing sheet" listing prices for dances on the main floor (\$20 per dance), in the VIP area (3 dances for \$100), and in the VIP booths (\$200 for 30 minutes or \$400 for 1 hour). APP 0616. The pricing sheet further stated dancers could not use VIP areas unless the customer purchased a certain amount of drinks from the Club. *Id*.

• "[T]he management of Crazy Horse III makes the final decision concerning music played for stage dancers to ensure that certain music formats and genres are in accordance with the Crazy Horse III club's desired scope." APP 0566; APP 0607:17-22.

• The Club set up one or more stages and implemented a rotation system whereby dancers would be called up to perform on stage. APP 0565:9-11; APP 0656-0660. Dancers who did not want to perform on stage had to pay a \$40 fee. APP 0565:11-13; APP 0661-0662.

• The Club set the cover charges for customers. APP 0616.

2. Whether the relative investment of the parties in the exotic dance business indicates a dependent relationship

• The Club controlled and paid for all expenses relating to setting up and operating the venue, including paying rent, utilities, special promotions, obtaining licensing, bar and kitchen inventory, hiring and paying staff, and repair and maintenance. Dancers were not required to contribute money towards the payment of those expenses. APP 0564:18-24; APP 0665-0666.

• The Club required dancers to pay a "house fee" to dance at the Club. APP 0565:4-5; APP 0652-0653.

• The Club required dancers to pay for their dance costumes and makeup. APP 0675.

3. Whether the dancers' opportunity for profit or loss depends on their managerial skill

• Dancers could make more money during any given work shift at the Club by performing more dances for the Club's customers or by convincing Club customers to give larger tips (assuming the Club was able to attract customers to the venue in the first place). APP 0675.

• The Club was responsible for attracting customers to the venue through its exclusive control over advertising and marketing and the setting of a cover charge for admission. APP 564:18-27; APP 616; APP665-666.

• The most a dancer stood to lose on any given shift was a daily house

8

fee, personal grooming expenditures, costume costs, and time. APP 675:23-26.

4. Whether exotic dancing requires a special skill

• The Club did not require its dancers to possess any formal dance training. APP 564:28; APP 663:4-7.

5. Whether the dancer-club relationship lacks a high degree of permanence

• The Club allowed its dancers to perform at other venues. APP 674:23-

26.

B. Facts relating to class certification

• The putative class consists of approximately 4,500 individuals. APP

124 at n. 2.

• The Club at all relevant times treated all dancers equally and applied its policies equally to all dancers. APP 124:8-12; APP 136:7-11.

C. Facts relating to amount-in-controversy threshold

• Appellant Karina Strelkova's potential total damage claim is at least \$12,547.75 (\$7,515.75 for the wage claim and \$5,032 for the unjust enrichment claim). APP 332; APP 338.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The central liability question in this case is whether the Club's dancers are employees within the meaning of the MWA. The trial court erred by ignoring the MWA's definition of employee and instead holding that the dancers met the test for independent contractor status in NRS 608.0155 and therefore are excluded from the MWA's protections. APP 2517. NRS 608.0155 does not purport to apply to MWA claims and, as this Court held in *Thomas*, if it did it would be preempted. The MWA's definition of employee, which this Court already has indicated is very broad, is identical to the definition in the parallel federal wage law, the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), 29 USC §§ 201-219. This Court should confirm that the MWA incorporates the FLSA's economic realities test and that the Club's dancers are its employees under that test as a matter of law.

The trial court also erred in denying class certification, as it ignored a wellestablished body of Nevada and federal precedent that compels certification, and in dismissing one plaintiff who met the jurisdictional amount-in-controversy and dismissing others who did not. Though district courts may not aggregate putative class member claims to divest the justice court of jurisdiction for class actions, it would needlessly increase the burden on the judicial system to require putative class members on either side of the jurisdictional threshold to pursue separate parallel class actions in both forums, and no statute or rule requires such a result. This Court should adopt the federal rule that where at least one named plaintiff in a putative class action satisfies the amount-in-controversy requirement, district courts have supplemental jurisdiction over claims of class members who do not meet that threshold.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment and construction of statutes *de novo*, giving no deference to its findings. *Wood v*. *Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005).

Class certification decisions are reviewed using an abuse of discretion standard. *Shuette v. Beazer Homes Holdings Corp.*, 121 Nev. 837, 846, 124 P.3d 530, 537 (2005).

A lower court's decision concerning subject matter jurisdiction is subject to *de novo* review. *Castillo v. United Fed. Credit Union*, 409 P.3d 54, 57 (Nev. 2018).

ARGUMENT

A. The trial court erred in determining NRS 608.0155 applies to MWA claims because the statute does not purport to do so (Issue 1)

NRS 608.0155 creates a new threshold test for independent contractor status in evaluating Chapter 608 claims. And, of course, the Legislature is free to modify this statutory scheme as it wishes, subject to federal preemption concerns. Under the amended statutory scheme, this Court's decision in *Terry* that NRS 608.010 (the statutory definition of employee) incorporates the FLSA's economic realities test still stands,² although individuals who meet the NRS 608.0155 test for independent contractor status now will be excluded from that definition. All this is well and good, but the Dancers did not bring a claim under Chapter 608 - they relied solely on the MWA.³

The trial court erred in applying NRS 608.0155 to limit the Dancers' MWA claim and in ignoring the MWA's definition of employee because, as the first six words of the statute state, its test for independent contractor status applies only "[f]or the purposes of this chapter" (*i.e.*, Chapter 608). NRS 608.0155(1). It is well established that, when interpreting a statute, the language of a statute should be given its plain meaning. *We the People Nevada v. Secretary of State*, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1170–71 (2008). If the Nevada Legislature had intended to ignore the principle of constitutional supremacy and enact a statute that purported

² The Club in its briefing to the trial court suggested, erroneously, that this Court's interpretation of NRS 608.010 in *Terry* was "abrogated by statute." APP 1312:1. ³ The MWA provides that "[a]n employee claiming *violation of this section* [not a violation of Chapter 608] may bring an action against his or her employer in the courts of this State to enforce *the provisions of this section* [not the provisions of Chapter 608]...." (emphasis added). *See also Neville v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court in & for Cty. of Clark*, 406 P.3d 499, 501 (Nev. 2017) ("The constitution expressly provides for a private cause of action to enforce the provisions of the Minimum Wage Amendment.").

to exclude individuals from the protections afforded by the MWA, it easily could have said so, but did not.

As discussed in this brief's next section, application of NRS 608.0155 to limit an MWA claim would run afoul of the principle of constitutional supremacy and raise preemption concerns. Thus, even if NRS 608.0155 could conceivably be construed to apply to MWA claims, such a problematic interpretation would be eschewed per the doctrine of constitutional avoidance. *Sheriff, Washoe Cty. v. Wu*, 101 Nev. 687, 689–90, 708 P.2d 305, 306 (1985) ("Where a statute may be given conflicting interpretations, one rendering it constitutional, and the other unconstitutional, the constitutional interpretation is favored."). *See also United States v. Jin Fuey Moy*, 241 U.S. 394, 401 (1916) ("A statute must be construed, if fairly possible, so as to avoid not only the conclusion that it is unconstitutional, but also grave doubts upon that score.").

The only reasonable interpretation of NRS 608.0155's scope that saves it from unconstitutionality and preemption concerns is the interpretation suggested by its plain language: that it does not apply to MWA claims but applies only "[f]or the purposes of this chapter." NRS 608.0155(1).

- B. The Legislature cannot, by ordinary enactment, exclude individuals from the protections afforded by the MWA (Issue 2)
 - 1. Applying NRS 608.0155 to exclude individuals from the protections afforded by the MWA would run afoul of the principle of constitutional supremacy

If NRS 608.0155 were interpreted to apply to MWA claims it would be unconstitutional. If an individual is an employee within the MWA's definition of that term (as interpreted by this Court, the ultimate authority on the constitution's meaning) then no statute can remove that individual from the constitution's protections because "the principle of constitutional supremacy prevents the Nevada Legislature from creating exceptions to the rights and privileges protected by Nevada's Constitution." *Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 327 P.3d 518, 522 (2014), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 24, 2014). *See also Strickland v. Waymire*, 126 Nev. 230, 241, 235 P.3d 605, 613 (2010) ("The constitution may not be construed according to a statute enacted pursuant thereto; rather, statutes must be construed consistent with the constitution — and rejected if inconsistent therewith.").

The Legislature has no power to limit the scope of a constitutional provision or a constitutional cause of action. "If the Legislature could change the Constitution by ordinary enactment, 'no longer would the Constitution be 'superior paramount law, unchangeable by ordinary means.' It would be 'on a level with ordinary legislative acts, and, like other acts, ... alterable when the legislature shall please to alter it." *Thomas*, 327 P.3d at 522 (*quoting City of Boerne v. Flores*, 521 U.S. 507, 529 (1997) (alteration in original) (*quoting Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. 137 (1803)).

This Court in Thomas already enforced the principle of constitutional supremacy and foreclosed any legislative attempt to restrict or alter the MWA's broad scope when it struck down a pre-existing statute purporting to exclude taxicab drivers from the MWA's broad definition of employee. Thomas at 522. For the reasons set forth at length in *Thomas*, a threshold statutory test that would accomplish a similar result as the legislative exemption at issue in *Thomas* (*i.e.*, excluding individuals from the "rights and privileges protected by Nevada's Constitution") also would be preempted. That a specific statutory exemption (at issue in *Thomas*) and a statutory test excluding an entire category of individuals from the constitution's protections (at issue here) are equally impermissible seems beyond argument. To hold otherwise would render meaningless this Court's ruling in Thomas (and the principle of constitutional supremacy it enforced) because it would permit the Legislature to re-establish the supposedly preempted statutory exemption for taxicab drivers simply by enacting a statute that said "any person who transports passengers in a vehicle for a fee" is an independent contractor. The principle of constitutional supremacy cannot be so easily subverted. This Court has determined that the MWA was enacted by Nevada voters to ensure that "more, not fewer, persons would receive minimum wage protections." *Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 87, 336 P.3d 951, 955 (2014). If the Legislature for some reason wanted to ensure that fewer, not more, persons would receive minimum wage protections under Nevada law, it would need to amend or repeal the MWA (although, as explained in the next section and as this Court previously has noted, even if the MWA was repealed a state wage law that purported to cover fewer persons than the parallel federal wage law would be preempted).

2. NRS 608.0155 is preempted by its conflict with the Fair Labor Standards Act

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