#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JACQUELINE FRANKLIN, ASHLEIGH PARK, LILY SHEPARD, STACIE ALLEN, MICHAELA DIVINE, KARINA STRELKOVA, and DANIELLE LAMAR, INDIVIDUALLY, AND ON BEHALF OF A CLASS OF SIMILARLY SITUATED INDIVIDUALS,	Case No.: 74332 District Court Case	Electronically Filed Nov 06 2018 12:28 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Glerk of Supreme Court
Appellants,		
VS.	Appeal from the Eig Court, Clark Count	ghth Judicial District
RUSSELL ROAD FOOD AND BEVERAGE, LLC,		y, mevaua
Respondent.		

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

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

## K. The District Court Did Not Err In Dismissing Those Who Failed To Meet the Amount-in-Controversy Requirement.

The Dancers' contend that the District Court erred in not allowing Strelkova Strelkova to combine her damages incurred in her self-admitted, wholly separate and independent claims to meet the jurisdictional limit required for maintaining an action in District Court<sup>9</sup>. *See* Brief at 52. The Dancers, <u>for the first time</u>, rely entirely on this Court's decision in *Castillo v. United Fed. Credit Union*, 134 Nev. Adv. Rep. 3,\*4-7, 409 P.3d 54, 58 (February 1, 2018), to support their incorrect conclusion. *See* Id. The Dancers argue that since this Court in *Castillo* held that all damage claims must be combined to determine whether the jurisdictional amount has been met, the District Court erred in refusing to consider Strelkova's damage claim of \$7,515.75, and her demand for restitution under a claim for unjust enrichment in the amount of \$5,032. *See* Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Russell Road objects to this argument as the Dancers did not identify any issue on appeal regarding whether the District Court erred in determining whether any plaintiff exceeded the required jurisdictional amount. *See* Brief at 2.

Besides being decided more than 6 months after the District Court dismissed Strelkova for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, the reliance on *Castillo* is misplaced. First, this Court did not hold in *Castillo* that <u>all</u> damage claims must be combined to determine whether the jurisdictional amount has been met. See, 409 P.3d. at 58. In *Castillo*, this Court only considered:

whether a claim for statutory damages can be combined with a claim for the elimination of the deficiency amount asserted to determine jurisdiction. *Castillo*, 409 P.3d. at 56.

In *Castillo*, the appellant alleged in her amended complaint that the amount in controversy exceeded \$10,000<sup>10</sup> because appellant was entitled to the elimination of a deficiency balance and statutory damages pursuant to NRS 104.9625(3)(b). *See* Id. at 56. The District Court dismissed appellant for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because NRS 104.9652(4) precluded appellant from combining statutory damages alleged with the deficiency claimed because this statute prohibited a recover under NRS 104.9625(2). *See* Id. at 58.

This Court held that the District Court erred because the appellant never sought to recover under NRS 104.9625(2), which precluded the right to recover where a deficiency is eliminated or reduced. *See* Id. at 58. Therefore, this Court determined that the appellant in *Castillo* could combine a claim for statutory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Legislature raised the jurisdictional amount to \$15,000, effective on June 8, 2017.

damages with a claim for deficiency to determine jurisdictional amount since she was not statutorily prohibited from such a combination. *See* Id. The Court's decision in *Castillo* did not go any farther to create a general rule that all damage claims could be combined to determine jurisdictional amount. *See* Id.

*Castillo* easily is distinguishable since Strelkova did not seek to combine statutory damages with a deficiency claim. *See* Brief at 52. Unlike the appellant in *Castillo*, Strelkova also never alleged in her amended Complaint that her damages were in excess of \$10,000, which on its face, required the dismissal of Strelkova for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *See* JA at I, 1-7. *See* N.R.C.P. 8(a)(2). *See also, Morrison v. Beach City LLC*, 116 Nev. 34, 36, 991 P.2d 982, 983 (2000) (The Dancers bear the burden of proving subject matter jurisdiction).

Also unlike the appellant in *Castillo*, Strelkova seeks to combine her alleged damages incurred from her wage claim and her claim for restitution derived from her equitable claim of unjust enrichment. *See* Brief at 52. Such a combination cannot occur because the two (2) claims asserted by Strelkova cannot stand together as a matter of law. Nevada maintains the long-standing general rule that a plaintiff may not recover equitable remedies where a plaintiff has a full and adequate remedy at law. *See State v. Second Judicial Dist. Court in & for Washoe County,* 49 Nev. 145, 159, 241 P. 317, 322 (1925).

Strelkova's Complaint alleges violations of Nevada's Minimum Wage Amendment and Nevada's minimum wage statutes, NRS 608.040-050 and 608.250, which provide Strelkova with an adequate and full remedy at law to sue and recover any actual unpaid wages owed. *See* Nev. Const., Article XV, § 16(B); and NRS 608.260. Further, Nevada's regulatory scheme permits Nevada's Labor Commission to assess an administrative penalty against any violator of Nevada's minimum wage laws. *See* NRS 608.290(2). As such, Nevada law provides an adequate and full remedy upon which Strelkova can recover. Therefore, it is impossible under Nevada law for Strelkova to recover in any manner in equity under a claim for Unjust Enrichment. As such, Strelkova cannot combine for purposes of determining jurisdiction alleged damages from a claim at law and alleged restitution owed for a claim in equity that cannot exist at the same time as her claim at law.

From the onset of this case, Russell Road has objected to and sought the dismissal of Strelkova's claim for Unjust Enrichment since she cannot recover in equity where she could recover as a matter of law. *See* JA at II, 334-36. Originally, Strelkova avoided the dismissal of this equity claim on the ground that she had asserted it in the "alternative." *See* Id. Since that time, however, Strelkova repeatedly has attempted to redefine and newly characterize her equity claim as an "independent" claim asserted entirely separate from her legal claim. *See* Id.

Strelkova's insistence that her equity claim is wholly "independent" operates to further prevent any combination of the two claims to meet the jurisdictional requirement. Nevada, as in other jurisdictions, has determined that claims may only be aggregated if sufficiently united. *See Hartford Mining Co. v. Home Lumber Coal Co.*, 61 Nev. 19, 21, 107 P.2d 1093, 1094 (1940) (only where causes of action are properly <u>united</u> may a plaintiff aggregate the amounts sued for to exceed jurisdictional amount). *See also, e.g., Budget Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc. v. Stauber,* 849 F. Supp. 743, 746 (D. Hawaii 1994) (standard for aggregation in a "legal certainty" matter is whether claims are "common and undivided" or "separate and distinct").

In the cases where aggregation to determine jurisdictional amount was at issue, this Court has found sufficient unity between claims to allow for aggregation. *See Hartford Mining Co.* 61 Nev. at 21 (two causes of action at issue were both for the sale of goods with the value of each less than the jurisdictional amount); and *El Ranco Inc., v. New York Meat & Provision Co.,* 88 Nev. 111, 116, 493 P.2d 1318, 1322 (1972) (aggregated claims because the same claim for the sale of meat products was asserted 26 separate times).

However, the holding in *El Ranco* does not support The Dancers' contention. The Nevada Supreme Court held that the respondent could aggregate his individual, separate claims. *See*, 88 Nev. at 116. However, the claims in *El Ranco* were the same claim asserted 26 times because the respondent had sold meat and meat products 26 separate times. *See* Id. at 112. Because several of these meat sales were individually less than the jurisdictional amount, the Nevada Supreme Court reasoned that these individual sales could be aggregated so that jurisdiction is obtained. *See* Id. at 116.

Unlike the claims asserted in these case, Strelkova does not seek to aggregate the same claim with different amounts. *See e.g.*, JA at III, 548-556. Instead, Strelkova seek to aggregate two entirely separate and as she insists, "independent" claims: one asserted under Nevada law and one asserted in equity, which in reality cannot stand together as a matter of law. *See* Id. Under such circumstances, these claims do not demonstrate the necessary unity required to aggregate the amounts alleged under each claim. *Cf. Hartford Mining Co.*, 61 Nev. at 21. Consequently, the District Court was correct to only consider the damages established in Strelkova's legal claim to determine whether she met the required jurisdictional amount. Since those alleged damages did not exceed \$10,000, the District Court, therefore, was correct to dismiss Strelkova for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

## L. The District Court Did Not Err In Dismissing Five Other Plaintiffs Since None Met the Jurisdictional Requirement.

The Dancers' contend that the District Court erred in dismissing five other plaintiffs despite each failing to meet their burden of establishing subject matter jurisdiction. *See* Brief at 53. However, the Dancers' Brief fails to identify any manner in which the District Court committed such an error. *See* Id. Instead, the Dancers contend that an open issue exists with this Court over what happens where some alleged class representatives who fail to individually meet the jurisdictional requirement to assert claims in District Court exist with some individuals who have met the jurisdictional requirement. *See* Id. Conveniently, the Dancers provide a solution to this supposed open issue. Specifically, the Dancers call for the adoption of a supposed federal rule that requires a federal court to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over claims of class members who do not meet the jurisdictional requirement. *See* Id. at 54 (citing *Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Allapattah Servs., Inc.,* 545 U.S. 546, 546 (2005)).

Identifying a supposed open issue for this Court is not an actual assertion of error by the District Court. Countless unresolved issues of law exist and asserting the existence of one does not deem a District Court in error simply because it did not resolve such a supposed open issue to the Dancers' satisfaction.

Regardless, the open issue supposedly identified by the Dancers is quite closed in Nevada. The Dancers contend that this Court has not addressed what happens where some alleged class representatives who fail to individually meet the jurisdictional requirement to assert claims in District Court exist with some individuals who have met the jurisdictional requirement in a class action case. *See* Brief at 53. The Legislature and this Court have resolved this issue completely–each

individual plaintiff who at any time does not meet the jurisdictional requirement must be dismissed. See N.R.C.P. 12(h)(3) ("whenever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject matter, the court shall dismiss the action.") (Emphasis Added).

The Nevada Constitution provides that District Courts <u>do not have</u> original jurisdiction over actions that fall within the original jurisdiction of the justices' courts. *See Nev. Const. art. 6, § 6.* NRS 4.370(1) confers original jurisdiction upon justices' courts over civil actions for damages or fines, if such damages or fines, without interest, do not exceed \$10,000. Thus, Nevada District Courts <u>only</u> have original jurisdiction over civil actions for damages and fines that exceed \$10,000. *See* NRS 4.370(1). Consequently, the District Court was correct to dismiss the five plaintiffs because each failed to meet their burden of demonstrating that the District Court had subject matter jurisdiction over their claims. *See* JA at XII, 2504-06.

The Dancers contend that since these plaintiffs are part of the putative class asserted, they and their respective claims against Russell Road should remain in the District Court. *See* Brief at 53-54. However, the Dancers do not cite any actual Nevada law that creates such an exception. *See* Id. Instead, the Dancers urge this Court to adopt their massaged version of the federal rule, which supposedly permits a federal court to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over such parties. *See* Id. at 54 (citing *Exxon Mobil Corp.*, 545 U.S. at 546).

The Dancers' adoption plea to this Court is without merit. The rule set forth in *Exxon* was superseded in several ways <u>by the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005</u> ("CAFA") (28 U.S.C § 1332(d)(2)). *See e.g., Frisby v. Keith D. Weiner & Assocs. Co., LPA*, 669 F. Supp. 2d 863, 871, fn. 3 (N.D. Ohio 2009). Further, *Exxon* did not establish any rule that permits a federal court to allow a class action to proceed where at least one plaintiff meets the jurisdictional threshold. *See*, 545 U.S. at 549. Instead, *Exxon* considered only a single question:

[W]hether a federal court in a diversity action may exercise supplemental jurisdiction over additional plaintiffs whose claims do not satisfy the minimum amount-in-controversy requirements, provided the claims are part of the same case or controversy as the claims of plaintiffs who do allege a sufficient amount in controversy. Id.

In response to this single question, the Supreme Court held:

[W]here the other elements of jurisdiction are present and at least one named plaintiffs in the action satisfies the amount-in-controversy requirement, § 1367 does authorize supplemental jurisdiction over the claims of other plaintiffs in the same Article III case or controversy, even if those claims are for less than the jurisdictional amount specified in the statute setting for the requirement for diversity jurisdiction. Id.

Unlike Exxon, this case is not in federal court, the Dancers are not attempting

diversity jurisdiction, the District Court was not and is not subject to "§ 1367," the Dancers' claims are not Article III matters, and the Dancers have not met the other elements of jurisdiction since their Complaint does not allege damages in excess of \$10,000. *See JA at III, 553*. In addition, the rule espoused in *Exxon* does not apply

to wage and hour cases. See e.g., Urbino v. Orkin Servs. Of California, Inc., 726 F.3d 1118, 1122 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2013).

The District Court, unlike federal court, also does not have the right to exercise supplemental jurisdiction. *See* NRS 4.370. Nevada District Courts are courts of <u>original jurisdiction created by statute</u> and consequently, cannot assert any jurisdiction other than as granted by statute. *See Kell v. State*, 96 Nev. 791, 792-793, 618 P. 2d 350, 351 (1980).

The Dancers cite to *Barelli v. Barelli*, to somehow contend that this Court has granted District Courts the authority to exercise supplemental jurisdiction. *See* Brief at 54 (citing, 113 Nev. 873, 878, 944 P.2d 246, 249 (1997)). *Barelli* has no such holding and does not apply here. The Court only held in *Barelli*:

[B]oth the family and general divisions of the District Court have the power to resolve issues that fall outside their jurisdiction when necessary to for the resolution of those claims over which jurisdiction is properly exercised. 113 Nev. at 878.

As stated above, *Barelli* <u>only</u> permitted a family court or the District Court to address issues not normally in their purview in order to resolve issues that are. *See* Id. Hearing the claims of plaintiffs who do not meet the jurisdictional requirement is not an "issue" that requires the District Court's resolution of some other issue. *See* supra. Since the Dancers do not actually identify an error committed by the District Court and the solution advocated for in the Dancers' Brief to a problem that is not at issue cannot be adopted under Nevada law, the District Court did not err in dismissing the five other plaintiffs.

### IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

There are no genuine issues of material fact in dispute. The District Court rightfully determined that Russell Road was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law since the Dancer, Jacqueline Franklin, met the criteria required by NRS 608.0155 and therefore, was conclusively presumed an independent contractor. As such, Russell Road respectfully requests that this Court affirm summary judgment in its favor.

Further, the District Court rightfully dismissed all of the Dancers, except for Jacqueline Franklin, for lack of subject matter jurisdiction since each failed to demonstrate that each had damages in excess of the jurisdictional minimum of \$10,000. As such, the Russell Road respectfully requests that this Court affirm the District Court's Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

Finally, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Dancers' Motion for Class Certification. As such, the Russell Road respectfully requests that this Court affirm the District Court's Order Denying the Motion Class Certification.

Dated this 5<sup>th</sup> day of November, 2018.

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